Note on a proposed UN CENTRALISED DATABASE OF OPEN-SOURCE APPROPRIATE TECHNOLOGIES



September 2021

Produced for the development of Resolution E/RES/2021/30 entitled "Open-source technologies for sustainable development" adopted by the United Nations Economic and Social Council on 22 July 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This UNCTAD technical note was part of the work that an UNCTAD team undertook to contribute to the development of Resolution E/RES/2021/30 entitled "Open-source Technologies for Sustainable Development" adopted by the United Nations Economic and Social Council on 22 July 2021. The team was led by Liping Zhang with team members composed of Joshua M. Pearce (UNCTAD consultant & Professor of Michigan Technological University), Abiy Solomon, Maria Godunova, Bob Bell, Olivier Combe (UNCTAD New York Office) and Ruslan Rakhmatullin under the supervision of Angel Gonzalez Sanz, Chief of Science, Technology and ICT Branch, Division on Technology and Logistics. Shamika N. Sirimanne, Director of the Division provided general guidance.

A substantive draft of the note was prepared by Joshua M. Pearce. The note was finalized by Liping Zhang and reviewed by Angel Gonzalez Sanz.

Xiahui Xin designed the cover. Malou Pasinos provided administrative support.

NOTE

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development.

The designations employed in this work do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This note has not been formally edited.

All references to dollars (\$) are to United States of America dollars unless otherwise stated.

For further information, please contact: stdev@unctad.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Open source allows users the freedom to control their technology while sharing knowledge and encouraging commerce through open exchange of designs. Open licenses contain a viral restriction and changing existing designs requires re-sharing the new design within the same license. This well-established method encourages rapid innovation and is regarded as a mainstay in software development. The same concept is now used for physical products and the open-source technical development method is in exponential growth in hardware development. Millions of open-source products are shared by the global community from consumer goods to scientific and medical equipment. New digital manufacturing and recycling techniques enable individuals and communities to fabricate their own products for less than the price of purchasing them. This model has been proven to be effective for emergency manufacturing during the COVID-19 pandemic.

One area particularly ripe for open-source development and knowledge sharing is "appropriate technology". Appropriate technologies encompass technological choices and applications that are small-scale, economically affordable, decentralised, energy-efficient, environmentally sound and easily utilized by local communities to meet their needs. Therefore, the trend in appropriate technologies is towards relatively simple and non-complex technologies, such as solar cookers.

One way the appropriate technology movement is modernizing to overcome intellectual property (IP) barriers is to blend with the open-source approach to technology development in order to overcome many of appropriate technologies' shortcomings as a technology change model and completely breaking away from IP restrictions. Open-source appropriate technology (OSAT) is an appropriate technology that contributes to the achievement of sustainable development goals (SDGs) while being designed in ways synonymous with free and open-source software (FOSS) and free and open-source hardware (FOSH).

Free and open-source software (FOSS) is software that is both free software and open-source software. Unlike proprietary software, FOSS is available in source code (open-source) form, and can be used, studied, copied, modified and redistributed without restriction, or with restrictions that only ensure that further recipients have the same rights as those under which it was obtained. Today free and open-source software (FOSS) plays the dominant role in software development globally and there is burgeoning rise in digital manufacturing, which make free and open-source hardware (FOSH) not only physically possible, but economically advantageous. The innovation cycle in open-source technology is much more rapid than the conventional intellectual property (IP)-focused process.

Both FOSS and FOSH go beyond open access, granting users substantial freedoms to build on the intellectual work of others. FOSH provides the "source code" for physical hardware including the bill of materials, schematics, computer aided designs (CAD), and other information such as detailed instructions needed to recreate a physical item.

The OSAT approach, even in areas such as medical research, radically reduces the costs even in the upfront investment and can be funded publicly, while earning a high return on investment.

Examples of how open-source can contribute to SDGs

To meet the SDGs, it is imperative that developing countries have access to a broad knowledge base. Access to relevant knowledge can significantly improve the quality of life in developing communities and solve the challenge of sustainable development. Examples of how open-source including FOSS and FOSH can contribute to SDGs include:

• SDG 2. An automatable, field camera track system for phenotyping crop lodging and crop movement SDG 3. Osmar, an open-source autosampler. Commercial microsyringe manipulation is common for automated sampling of liquids or gases and normally costs over \$30,000. Osmar is a viable technically-accessible alternative that can be adapted and expanded for more general liquid handling tasks and be built for under \$1,000. Loss of life could be prevented by known technologies whose

availability is restricted by causes such as paywalls on articles under copyright, which restrict the free flow of information or companies leveraging patents to restrict the manufacturing of medical products (e.g. restricting the sale of antiretroviral drugs to treat HIV).

- **SDG 4.** The OpenFlexure Microscope is a 3-D-printed laboratory-grade motorized microscope, which was co-developed between the University of Bath, UK and the Tanzanian engineering company STICLab. It replaces commercial tools that cost over \$30,000 for under \$100.
- **SDG 6**. An open-source, programmable pneumatic setup for operation and automated control of single- and multi-layer microfluidic devices.
- **SDG 7, SDG 2**. Sharing technology of solar cookers or solar bakeries can be advantageous in terms of having no recurring costs, the potential to reduce drudgery, the improvement of indoor air quality, the high nutritional value of food they produce, and high durability.
- **SDG 8.** OpenDesk which is a global platform for local making, uses a business model for open-source furniture made with distributed on-demand manufacturing. Anyone can download the design files and cut it out on their own open-source CNC (computer numeric controlled) mill. Local economic development occurs because of local manufacturing and sales.
- **SDG 15**. ImageJ which is an open-source image processing and analysis software package originally developed to look at microscopic organisms. Because it is open source and highly adaptable, it is even being used for remote sensing work carried out by aerial drones over enormous land areas.
- **SDGs 1, 2, 3, 4, 11**. OSAT development has already reached sophisticated devices such as opensource 3-D printers used for both the design, but also the production of OSAT in a wide range of areas. For example, RepRaps can be used for manufacturing tools for organic farming, to make microscopes for medical clinics or for full optical labs in schools and research facilities in developing communities for far less cost than conventional means. Open-source 3-D printers are used to create thousands of free 3-D printed hands and arms for those in need of an upper limb assistive device from open-source designs, with significant cost reduction.

The need for a centralised open-source database

A database of OSAT could have potential to accelerate discovery and innovation across all sectors associated with the SDGs, while minimizing legal or financial impediments. Technical information made available via opensource methods can overcome barriers to the building and dissemination of the global stock of knowledge, particularly in developing countries.

Currently, there is no comprehensive repository or central database of OSAT, including technologies with expired patents, patented technologies that are freely licensed (with conditional or unconditional use), and free and opensource technologies. Many organizations, non-profits and for-profit companies are developing OSAT and maintaining existing small-scale databases. While many OSAT are available, they are scattered in various databases for particular technologies. Meanwhile, there remains a distinct need for increasing the use rate of OSAT. Therefore, there is an urgent need for a trusted, global centralised open-source database (COSD).

Being global in scope, a COSD repository would provide a one-stop-shop that everyone can access to solve local challenges. Appropriate technologies that are relevant to the SDGs would be expected to make up the core of the COSD. COSD would thus cover all technical areas. In addition, the COSD will not be limited to specific sectors or applications, as open-source technologies can often solve problems far outside the scope of their intended use. For example, ImageJ is an open-source image processing and analysis software package originally developed to look at microscopic organisms. Because it was open source and highly adaptable, now it is being used for remote

sensing work carried out by aerial drones over enormous land areas. In the COSD, all information, data, plans, full digital design and manufacturing files, instructions for assembly and use, etc. are available and free.

UN is rightly positioned to host the COSD

The United Nations (UN) is well placed to take a lead in the establishment of a COSD given its well established role in advocating open-source technology through various intergovernmental forums and publications. In particular, the 2030 Connect is a UN online technology platform that was developed as part of the work of the UN Inter-Agency Task Team. The COSD could enhance it by being incorporated into the 2030 Connect. The success of the COSD depends on support from the UN Member States as well as collaboration and cooperation among UN agencies including United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and UN regional commissions. Private sector engagement in COSD is equally important. For example, companies that already belonging to organizations like Open-Source Hardware Association may find it beneficial to share their own designs with the COSD.

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS

ASME	American Society of Mechanical Engineers
CAD	Computer aided designs
CNC	Computer numeric controlled
COSD	Centralised Open-source Database
DESA	Department of Economic and Social Affairs
DIY	Do-it-Yourself
DRAM	Distributed Recycling and Manufacturing
E4C	Engineering for Change
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FOSH	Free and open-source hardware
FOSS	Free and open-source software
FPF	Fused Particle Fabrication
GIAN	Grassroots Innovation Augmentation Network
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IEEE	Electrical and Electronics Engineers
IP	Intellectual Property
NIH	National Institutes of Health
OSAT	Open-source appropriate technology
OSE	Open-source Ecology
OSHWA	Open-source Hardware Association
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
ROI	Return on Investment
SDGs	sustainable development goals
ТАР	Tech Access Partnership
UN	United Nations
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
WHO	World Health Organization

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
NOTE	ii
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	iii
ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS	vi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. BACKGROUND TO OPEN-SOURCE TECHNOLOGIES	1
2.1 Free and open-source software	1
2.2 Free and Open-Source Hardware	2
2.3 Distributed Recycling and Manufacturing	8
2.4 What we learned about intellectual property and open source from COVID	9
2.5 Harnessing the Maker Movement	9
3. A CENTRAL OPEN-SOURCE DATABASE FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS	10
4. EXISTING DATABASES AND POTENTIAL PARTNERS	12
5. DOWNLOADED SUBSTITUTION VALUE AND RETURN ON INVESTMENT	16
6. WHY THE UN SHOULD TAKE THE LEAD	17
7. CONCLUSIONS	19

List of boxes

Box 1: Custom Prosthetics for <1/100th of the cost for SDG 3	4
Box 2: Examples of low-cost scientific FOSH for SDG 2 and SDG 6	6
Box 3: Open Flexure Microscope for SDG 4	7
Box 4: Distributed Manufacturing for SDG 8	8
Box 5: How DRAM works for SDG 12	9
Box 6: Solar Bakery for SDG 2 and SDG 7	11
Box 7: Offerings at the Open-Source Ecology	14
Box 8: Osmar, an open-source autosampler for SDG 3	16
Box 9: Open-Source Syringe Pumps	17

List of figures

Figure 1. Articles indexed by Google Scholar on FOSS and FOSH	3
Figure 2. Geographical spread of global fab labs (left) and makerspaces (right) as of January 2021	.10

1. INTRODUCTION

The United Nations has been discussing for some time the use of open-source technologies, such as free and opensource software (FOSS) and open access to knowledge to drive sustainable development. The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) has focused on this area in the *E-Commerce and Development Report 2003*¹ and concluded "*The advantages for developing countries of promoting policy that will provide a positive environment for open-source IT are manifold.*" Later, the Information Economy Report 2012² summarized the benefits of open-source for use in the public sector as follows: (i) lower costs and local value creation, (ii) promotion of local learning with universal information and communication technology (ICT) access, (iii) less dependence on specific technologies or vendors (e.g. no lock-in), (iv) easy adaption to meet local needs with customizability to local languages and cultures, and (v) addresses concerns of national security and long-term availability. The 2012 report concluded:

Rather than purchasing software licences and services abroad, local FOSS³ development, sales and services can help keep resources within the local economy, avoid dependency on specific vendors and provide opportunities for income generation and employment. When based on FOSS, local software companies may be in a better position to develop innovative and cost-effective solutions that are customized to meet specific needs in the domestic market. As noted earlier, such capabilities are essential to seize full development benefits from improved access to ICTs.

Today, free and open-source software (FOSS) plays a dominant role in software development globally. There is also a burgeoning rise in digital manufacturing activities, which make free and open-source hardware (FOSH) not only physically possible, but economically advantageous. The innovation cycle in open-source technology is much more rapid than the conventional intellectual property (IP) focused process.⁴ The COVID-19 pandemic has made the use of accelerated open-source and distributed manufacturing approach apparent. As highlighted in the intergovernmental deliberations at the 15th session of the UN Commission on Science and Technology for Development (CSTD) in 2012⁵, there is now consensus that technical information made available via open-source methods can help overcome barriers to the building and dissemination of the global stock of knowledge, particularly in developing countries. Today, millions of open-source technologies are scattered across various websites and there is no comprehensive repository of free and open technologies. Therefore, a platform of public domain technologies could potentially accelerate discovery and innovation across all sectors associated with the SDGs⁶, while minimizing financial and IP-related barriers.

This technical note provides: (a) a background on open source technologies, (b) describes the proposed database, (c) catalogues existing initiatives, (d) provides a means of calculating the value of open-source technologies and the return on investment for financing them, and (e) discusses why the UN should take a leadership role in providing a global universal database.

2. BACKGROUND TO OPEN-SOURCE TECHNOLOGIES

The open-source technical development method has grown to dominate software, and it is now in exponential growth in hardware development. New digital manufacturing and recycling techniques enable individuals, organizations and communities to make their own products for less than purchasing them, and this model has just proven effective as an emergency manufacturing response during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is the right time to harness the international *Maker movement*⁷ and formulate an open database to avoid intellectual bottlenecks for sustainable economic development.

2.1 Free and open-source software

Free and open-source software (FOSS) is software that is both free software and open-source software.⁸ FOSS is available in source code (open-source) form, and can be used, studied, copied, modified and redistributed without

restriction, or with restrictions that only ensure that further recipients have the same rights as those under which it was obtained.

With the majority of large companies contributing to open-source software projects,⁹ it has become a dominant form of technical development.¹⁰ All supercomputers¹¹ and 90% of cloud servers run open-source operating systems. Effectively, every click on Facebook, Twitter, Walmart, Wikipedia, Yahoo, YouTube or Amazon uses a machine running FOSS.¹²

FOSS is increasingly embraced by the business world with 90% of the Fortune Global 500 companies now using the open-source Linux operating system.¹³ In addition, over 84% of the global smartphone market is open-source, using Google's Android operating system,¹⁴ and more than 80% of the "internet of things" devices use FOSS.¹⁵ In the FOSS ecosystem, there are equivalent software packages for the vast majority of proprietary programs.¹⁶ For example, Libre Office, a free office suite, is used on hundreds of thousands of computers across the world. In particular, it is used by the government of France, the government of the Spanish autonomous region of Valencia and Italy's Ministry of Defense. In Brazil, Universidade Estadual Paulista uses it as part of a larger migration towards FOSS.¹⁷

These countries and regions are not alone. A growing number of governments worldwide have embraced the use of FOSS.¹⁸ For example, China developed its open-source Kylin operating system. By 2019, the NeoKylin version of this operation system has been made compatible with over 4,000 software and hardware products and was preinstalled on most computers sold in China.¹⁹ Together, Kylin and NeoKylin have 90% of the domestic operating system market share in the government sector.²⁰ Similarly, other countries are embracing this approach to FOSS operating systems and programs. Some European countries like Finland²¹ have open-source policies, the Indian government announced a policy on adoption of FOSS,²² as has Peru,²³ Brazil²⁴ and South Africa.²⁵ Ecuador²⁶ has encouraged distribution of low-cost computers running Linux and uses Libre software in the public sector. In the U.S., the federal government has a policy that mandates a percentage of custom source code be released as open-source.²⁷

2.2 Free and Open-Source Hardware

Free and open-source hardware (FOSH) builds on the same sharing philosophy and rights of users that underlies the success of FOSS²⁸. As defined²⁹ by the Open-source Hardware Association (OSHWA), a FOSH design is shared publicly, so that anyone can study, modify, distribute, make, and sell the design or hardware based on the design. Thus, both FOSS and FOSH go beyond open access, granting users substantial freedoms to build on the intellectual work of others. FOSH provides the "source code" for physical hardware including the bill of materials, schematics, CAD, and other information such as detailed instructions needed to recreate a physical item. As well-established in FOSS development, research-related FOSH is now demonstrating improved product innovation.^{30,31} FOSH is rapidly gaining momentum and trails behind the historical rise of FOSS by about 15 years (*see Figure 1 below*).

There has been a consistent increase in the emergence of FOSH-based electronics, even if at a rate that is slower than free and open-source software. It is now possible, for example, to automate and control almost any electronic device using open-source microcontrollers like the Arduino.³² The Arduino is a family of microcontrollers, whose functionality has been built up by a global open-source community on a wide range of thousands of projects,³³ from automated irrigation systems,³⁴ to nitrate testing for optimal crop fertilization,³⁵ to low-cost baby monitors in Africa.³⁶





Source: Pearce, J.M. Sponsored Libre Research Agreements to Create Free and Open-source Software and Hardware. Inventions 2018, 3, 44.³⁷

Even in relatively mature open hardware areas like open-source electronics, the designs are separated in many locations. There are many scattered repositories open to any global citizen to download for free various open-source electronics including: Open Electronics,³⁸ Open Hardware Repository,³⁹ Open Circuits Institute,⁴⁰ Open Circuits Wiki,⁴¹ Hackster,⁴² Codemade⁴³ and Hackaday.⁴⁴ All these websites allow both users and developers to discover and share open-source projects. In addition, the catalogues of open-source electronics companies, which contain the full source code for their thousands of products, are also de facto repositories including Sparkfun,⁴⁵ Adafruit,⁴⁶ Tiny Circuits⁴⁷ and Seeed Studio.⁴⁸

Users are free to download and manufacture the electronics using open-source printed circuit board mills.⁴⁹

Access to open-source electronics has been an enabling technology that allowed the growth in FOSH, which is now being driven by the open-source distribution of three primary classes of digitally distributed (to the point of 'at-home') manufacturing: 1) 3D printers, 2) laser cutters and 3) computer numerical control (CNC) mills. Each of these three technologies has accessible starting points in the open-source ecosystem, yet they also have evolved enough that new users can fabricate sophisticated tools that can match product available from an industrial manufacturer. It has been suggested that digital distributed manufacturing is poised to unleash a new paradigm shift equivalent to an industrial revolution.⁵⁰ Yet, the OS growth of these technologies proves the potential for this industrial revolution to be democratized, which holds incredible promise for developing communities.⁵¹

Although 3D-printing and additive manufacturing are now an old technology, it has gained popular attention only recently when the open sourcing of the technology dropped the costs so that they became accessible to most of the world's population.⁵² Today, the most popular desktop 3D printer, Creality Ender 3, made in China, is open-source and can be purchased for under \$200.⁵³ Yet these low-cost and open-source 3D printers derived from the self-

REPlicating RAPid prototyper (RepRap) project⁵⁴ are capable to produce parts as mechanically functional in applications as those from commercial 3D printers (costing over \$20,000).⁵⁵

A recent development of open-source 3D-printers makes the scaling of mass-distributed additive manufacturing of high-value objects technically feasible for much of the world from open-source plans.⁵⁶ RepRap solutions hold promise in the developing countries.⁵⁷ They can fabricate many of their own parts, so can be fixed without access to supply chains. They are open source so they can be upgraded easily. They literally have been evolving under the open-source paradigm.⁵⁸

Selecting from millions of free designs, communities can radically reduce costs for a wide range of products by 3D printing them for themselves. They include children's toys,⁵⁹ learning aids,⁶⁰ drones,⁶¹ photovoltaic racking,⁶² and medical equipment, such as braces for clubfoot,⁶³ and prosthetics (*see Box 1*),⁶⁴ self-adjustable glasses,⁶⁵ and adaptive aids for arthritis sufferers. ⁶⁶ The free and open-source designs for these products are growing exponentially,⁶⁷ already numbering in the millions, and are currently scattered throughout dozens of online repositories.⁶⁸ Thus, by combining open-source designs with digital distributed manufacturing, it is possible for consumers throughout the world to manufacture their own products for lower costs than can be mass manufactured.⁶⁹

Box 1: Custom Prosthetics for <1/100th of the cost for SDG 3

The e-NABLE Community (<u>http://enablingthefuture.org/</u>), with more than 10,000 volunteer members in 140 Chapters and hundreds of schools from all over the world, are using their 3D printers to create thousands of free 3D-printed hands and arms for those in need of an upper limb assistive device from open-source designs. Prosthetics are customized for the children and can be produced for about \$25 - reducing the commercial costs by orders of magnitude.



Caption: Photographs of children using e-NABLE hands made by a global network of volunteers, including 12-year-old Musa, a survivor of the Boko Haram attacks in Adamawa State, Nigeria.

Open-source designs have even entered areas that have been historically used as examples of the need for traditional IP such as pharmaceuticals.⁷⁰ For example, Open-source Pharma's⁷¹ mission is to create an alternative, comprehensive, open-source pharmaceutical system driven by principles of openness, patient needs, and affordability. This includes initiatives such as (*a*) Open-source Pharma Foundation that has commenced a multicentric phase 2b clinical trial for an adjunct therapy for tuberculosis, reaching this stage nearly a decade faster and for less than 1% of the cost of the conventional IP-intensive pharmaceutical approach⁷²; (*b*) Open-source Malaria⁷³ and the Malaria DREAM Challenge⁷⁴, which are using open-source principles to discover new Malaria drugs; (*c*) the Nipah Virus Open Research Collaborative, which are doing the same to find cures for the deadly outbreak of the Nipah virus in India⁷⁵, and (*d*) the CRI in Paris⁷⁶, which is developing a safe model microbe E. coli as a proxy organism to express and target essential metabolic enzymes from other species.

By developing inexpensive, simple and safe drug discovery tools, Open-source Pharma hopes to greatly expand the number of people and places that can participate in the discovery process. Much medical research is already publicly funded, which could be made open source. Research has shown⁷⁷ that the competence for scientific breakthrough innovation and the competence for "operational excellence" for corporations are conflicting. This means that innovation creates forced obsolescence of existing products, corporate processes, and threatens the organizational fabric of some companies – all of which reduce innovation rates. As such, the open-source model can offer⁷⁸ a chance to restore the balance by locating disruptive innovation outside of corporations, where it can thrive without any constraints.

Distributed digital manufacturing of FOSH has shown promise among scientists⁷⁹ for developing custom scientific tools⁸⁰ (*see Box 2*). There are now journals specifically dedicated to scientific FOSH such as *HardwareX*⁸¹ and the *Journal of Open Hardware*⁸², as well as the *Public Library of Science Open-source Toolkit*.⁸³

Box 2: Examples of low-cost scientific FOSH for SDG 2 and SDG 6

The following examples of low-cost scientific FOSH are from *HardwareX*, an open access journal dedicated to free and open-source hardware, which uses a template format to ensure that all of the source code needed to recreate the device is accessible. Savings are observed for fabrication, however, even during use and maintenance, open-source approaches have significant advantages as costs depend on local labor costs, which in developing countries provide an advantage for exploitation. The examples are from agricultural and environmental science instruments (specifically related to water quality) on the large and small scale:

a) An automatable, field camera track system for phenotyping crop lodging and crop movement (10.1016/j.ohx.2018.e00029);
b) The Stalker: An open-source force meter for rapid stalk strength phenotyping used for plant breeding (10.1016/j.ohx.2019.e00067);
c) smAvo and smaTo: A fruity odyssey of smart sensor platforms in Southern Africa for agricultural engineering (10.1016/j.ohx.2020.e00156);

d) A low-cost Arduino-based datalogger with cellular modem and FTP communication for irrigation water use monitoring to enable access to CropManage (10.1016/j.ohx.2019.e00066);

e) Automated multiport flow-through water pumping and sampling system (10.1016/j.ohx.2020.e00147);

f) FishCam: A low-cost open-source autonomous camera for aquatic research (10.1016/j.ohx.2020.e00110);

g) Programmable and low-cost ultraviolet room disinfection device (10.1016/j.ohx.2018.e00046), which can be used to sterilize rooms in the agriculture industry as well as for R&D and medical applications;

h) A low-cost and small USV platform for water quality monitoring (10.1016/j.ohx.2019.e00076);

i) An open-source, programmable pneumatic setup for operation and automated control of single- and multi-layer microfluidic devices (10.1016/j.ohx.2017.10.001);



Caption: Open-source hardware courtesy of HardwareX (CC-By). https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/hardwarex

FOSH not only provides customized products for doing state-of-the-art experiments but makes them more accessible to developing world scientists because of significant cost discounts.⁸⁴ A 2020 review article⁸⁵ found that the average material costs from the aggregate of the bill of materials for the open-hardware scientific devices were under \$1,500, yet they were able to replace proprietary devices with equivalent (or lesser) functionality that cost over \$20,000 (i.e. FOSH saved 87% compared to proprietary scientific tools).

These economic savings increased slightly to 89% for those that used Arduinos, to 92% for those that used RepRap-class 3D-printing, and 94% when both Arduino and 3D printing were used. These savings were over 99% for sensors, ⁸⁶ reactors, ⁸⁷ analytical equipment ⁸⁸ and digital manufacturing equipment. ⁸⁹ The latter type of equipment, which is used for the automation of experiments or further custom scientific experiments generally saved a large percentage over commercial products (e.g., laser sintering additive manufacturing system⁹⁰ or an autosampler⁹¹). The profit potential for *do-it-yourself* (DIY) digital manufacturing is so high that \$20 for a kg of commercial plastic filament can 3D-print 20 products that exceed the value of a desktop printer itself and can be printed in a weekend.⁹²

A good example of a high-quality scientific tool that slashes the costs of conventional equipment is the OpenFlexure Microscope.⁹³ Optical microscopes are essential tools for both disease detection in medical clinics and for scientific analysis (see Box 3). The OpenFlexure is built upon a clever adaptation of flexure technology, which gives <100nm alignment⁹⁴ and even super-resolution imaging.⁹⁵

Box 3: Open Flexure Microscope for SDG 4

The OpenFlexure Microscope (<u>https://openflexure.org</u>) is a 3D-printed laboratory-grade motorized microscope, which was co-developed between the University of Bath, UK and the Tanzanian engineering company STICLab (<u>https://sticlab.co.tz</u>). It can be built using either inexpensive webcam optics for use in the classroom and non-demanding applications or lab quality, RMS threaded microscope objectives for state-of-the-art science. It replaces commercial tools that cost over \$30,000 for under \$100. The majority of the expense is in the Raspberry Pi (<u>https://www.raspberrypi.org</u>) and its camera module; the design requires only around 200g of plastic and a few parts that are easy to source in most places.



Caption: OpenFlexure Microscopes being set up left and detail (right) (CC-BY) courtesy of the GOSH community (the Gathering for Open Science Hardware) <u>http://openhardware.science</u>

Such economic savings are possible because of the proliferation of enabling FOSH such as distributed direct digital production with 3D printers⁹⁶ as well as the rise of FOSH-based electronics such as the Arduino microcontroller for designing new hardware⁹⁷ and keeping old hardware running.⁹⁸ This can be accomplished in-house, or by the proliferation of small and medium sized 3D-printing businesses manufacturing and selling products to consumers or other businesses in their communities (*see Box 4*).⁹⁹

Box 4: Distributed Manufacturing for SDG 8



OpenDesk is a global platform for local making. It uses a business model for open-source furniture made with distributed on-demand manufacturing. It is an online marketplace that hosts independentlydesigned furniture and connects its customers to local makers around the world. OpenDesk designs are largely under creative commons licences and available to download. Designers can choose whether to make downloads available for free (which will increase distribution and uptake and is a nice way to provide value to individuals, charities, students and schools without impacting commercial revenue), or to charge for the download. For example, the Lift Desk shown below is an adjustable height workbench that goes from seated, to a bar, to a standing desk height. Anyone can download the design files and cut it out on their own open-source CNC (computer numeric controlled) mill. CNC devices are used to fabricate physical objects with a high degree of precision, and if they are mills, they do it with subtractive manufacturing, i.e., cutting away what you do not want in your object from a block of material, in this case wood. For those without their own CNC mills, they can order the product from local makers that are part of the OpenDesk network. In this way, everyone benefits from high quality design shared globally, yet local economic development occurs because of local manufacturing and sales.

Caption: Lift Standing Desk designed and shared by Joni Steiner and Nick Ierodiaconou under creative commons licence on OpenDesk. *See* <u>https://www.opendesk.cc/lean/lift-standing-desk#make-it-yourself</u> (CC-BY-SA-NC)

2.3 Distributed Recycling and Manufacturing

One of the most promising sustainable development opportunities that open hardware has enabled recently is distributed recycling and additive manufacturing (DRAM).¹⁰⁰ Several technologic pathways¹⁰¹(see Box 5) have matured to allow individuals to recycle waste plastic directly by 3D-printing it into valuable products.¹⁰² DRAM starts with waste plastic that is produced everywhere from packaging to broken products. It is washed, dried and then ground or cut into particles using a waste plastic granulator¹⁰³ or office shredder. Next, the particles are either converted to 3D-printing filament using a recyclebot¹⁰⁴ or printed directly. Filament made with a recyclebot costs less than 10 cents per kg, whereas commercial filament costs \$20/kg or more. This can produce valuable products at remarkably low costs. For example, using a recyclebot/3D-printer combination can produce over 300 units (e.g., camera lens hoods) for the price of one such item listed on Amazon.com.¹⁰⁵

This process can also be solar-powered directly, making it accessible even to those without reliable electricity.¹⁰⁶ The second approach skips making filament and uses fused particle fabrication (FPF) or fused granule fabrication to directly 3D print waste plastic into products at the large scale¹⁰⁷ and on the desktop.¹⁰⁸ Both approaches work over a wide range of plastics, including the most common one, PET (e.g., water bottles).¹⁰⁹ Lastly, 3D-printed waste molds¹¹⁰ can be used to recycle composites or hard-to-print plastics.¹¹¹ Overall, both recycling¹¹² and 3D printing¹¹³ via DRAM is better for the environment. With a pandemic interrupting global supply chains¹¹⁴, making products at home from waste is even more appealing.

Box 5: How DRAM works for SDG 12

Below are two approaches to turning waste plastic into consumer goods with DRAM. On the left, waste plastic is first converted to filament in a vertical recyclebot and then 3D-printed into components for a camera tripod using fused filament fabrication (FFF), which is also referred to in the proprietary process of fused deposition modeling (FDM). On the right, the shredded waste plastic is directly 3D-printed using fused FPF to make a skateboard deck, which was converted into an electric-skateboard (as shown) using open-source plans.





FFF-based recycling on desktop Lulzbot 3D printer

FPF-based recycling on industrial-sized GigabotX 3D printer

2.4 What we learned about intellectual property and open source from COVID

Rapid access to high-quality information was of critical importance during the COVID-19 pandemic, yet conventional approaches to intellectual property (IP) hindered scientists, engineers and medical doctors from access to designs and clinical data trials, as well as the utilization of technologies such as respirators, diagnostic kits, therapeutics and vaccines that could have scaled to meet the demand. Scientific collaboration during the pandemic put aside copyright restrictions and has greatly relied upon open access to knowledge for research as major publishers such as Springer-Nature,¹¹⁵ Elsevier,¹¹⁶ and the *New England Journal of Medicine*¹¹⁷ provided free access to COVID-19 articles. Perhaps most surprisingly, OS technologies have enabled engineers to rapidly design medical devices for domestic distributed production. There was an explosion of free and open-source designs meant to help others – everything from open-source ventilators¹¹⁸ to personal protective equipment (PPE) like face shields¹¹⁹ and masks. ¹²⁰ In the U.S., the National Institutes of Health, for example, used their open-source 3D Print Exchange to review free designs for clinical and community use.¹²¹

All different kinds of makers are fabricating PPE for their local hospitals and helping each other in their communities. To see how widespread this type of sharing and caring is, consider just one group of "Helpful Engineers".¹²² They have congregated to aid in the COVID-19 pandemic response by developing both FOSS and FOSH of a wide range of medical devices, to create solutions that can be quickly reproduced and assembled locally worldwide. Although just starting out, they have over 2,500 registered volunteers, and their Slack team has grown quickly to over 9,000 by March 2020. These makers are largely professional engineers, but other non-professional maker volunteers sewed thousands upon thousands of face masks to help shield doctors, nurses and everyone else from the coronavirus.¹²³ This is just one group of dozens throughout the world.

2.5 Harnessing the Maker Movement

The *Maker movement*,¹²⁴ which encourages local manufacturing (i.e., making) for self-consumption are long been proponents of FOSH. Makers have a mutual expectation of collaboration.¹²⁵ Makers stress a cut-and-paste approach to standardized hobbyist technologies, and encourage cookbook re-use of freely published designs, which make local production far easier and convenient than replicating a proprietary product from an expired patent. A positive maker attitude is often a necessity in the developing world, where networks of grassroots innovation abound.¹²⁶ Even in the developed world, makers flourish. An estimate¹²⁷ by *USA Today* suggests the

U.S. has over 135 million makers, which is well over half (57%) of the American adult population. The maker movement itself is a relatively new subculture that represents a technology-based extension of the more traditional DIY culture.

Every family does not yet have both the capital and technical expertise to operate DRAM out of their homes (although this is possible). In larger systems, for DRAM to be a path to the circular economy, these tools could be housed in neighborhood-level enterprises like small local businesses, makerspaces, fab labs, and to a growing extent, schools, community centers and libraries. The return on investments (ROI) for small companies or fab labs making custom products, even one at a time, this way is substantial.¹²⁸ France is already investigating making small businesses that collect plastic waste at schools to make 3D filament.¹²⁹

A growing number of community-operated physical places where people can meet, share skills and work on their projects using both analogue and digital manufacturing tools are spread out globally. Examples of such physical spaces include local hackerspaces,¹³⁰ fab labs¹³¹ and makerspaces¹³² (*see Figure 2*).

Figure 2. Geographical spread of global fab labs (left) and makerspaces (right) as of January 2021



Source: https://www.fablabs.io/labs/map

Source: https://www.nationofmakers.us/find-a-makerspace

3. A CENTRAL OPEN-SOURCE DATABASE FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

In order to meet the SDGs, it is imperative that those in the developing world have access to a broad knowledge base. Access to relevant knowledge can significantly improve the quality of life in developing communities and solve the challenge of sustainable development.¹³³ Some common examples include access to weather and sea conditions, crop and product valuation, micro-credit loan and financial tracking, government services and records, health care information, and transportation services.¹³⁴ Free and open-source technologies of all kinds eliminate the national-level economic loss resulting from duplication of work, which is why a *Central Open-source Database (COSD)* needs to be global in scope. One area particularly ready for open-source development and knowledge sharing is "appropriate technology" and would be expected to make up the core of an COSD. This area encompasses all of the SDGs and covers all technical areas.

Appropriate technologies¹³⁵ encompass technological choices and applications that are small-scale, economically affordable by locals, decentralised, energy-efficient, environmentally sound, and that enable local autonomy.¹³⁶ Thus, appropriate technologies are made up of technologies that are easily and economically utilized from readily available resources by local communities to meet their needs.¹³⁷ Appropriate technologies are normally discussed in terms of sustainable development for "*intermediate technologies*" that are viewed as stepping stones to enable people to escape poverty (SDG 1).¹³⁸ Therefore, the bias of appropriate technologies is towards relatively simple and non-complex technologies. For example, solar cookers¹³⁹ have been identified as appropriate technologies because of numerous advantages such as no recurring costs, the potential to reduce drudgery, the improvement of indoor air quality, the high nutritional value of food they produce, and high durability.¹⁴⁰

NOTE ON A PROPOSED UN CENTRALIZED DATABASE OF OSAT

There can be challenges (e.g., sunlight may be intermittent, space may be limited, initial capital costs too high, it may be perceived to be inconvenient of socially unacceptable¹⁴¹) but solar cookers can even be used at the retail scale (*see Box 6*). Appropriate technologies such as a solar cooker might be used by a family as an intermediate technology between cooking with a fire indoors until family capital accrues to use a more capital-intensive technology (e.g., a microwave oven) that enables more rapid cooking.

Box 6: Solar Bakery for SDG 2 and SDG 7



Caption: A solar trough baking oven along with a solar box cooker in the background (left) powers a solar bakery making bread (right) and other baked goods run by the Bethel Business and Community Development Centre in Lesotho in southern Africa. The design reports are available on the Solar Cookers International Wiki (CC-By-SA)(<u>https://solarcooking.fandom.com/wiki/Solar-Trough-Baking-Oven</u>) The BBCDC is both a commercial and technical school located in a remote rural district of Lesotho that was developed on barren land.

Even much of the research that is related to SDGs is unavailable to those who need it due to intellectual property law such as patents and copyrights.¹⁴² It is argued that the results of this restricted and closed model of technological development creates socially-constructed scarcity¹⁴³(i.e., human social systems create a scarcity where physically it does not exist¹⁴⁴) that is not conducive to addressing continued poverty and social challenges observed globally.

For example, the World Health Organization (WHO) reports that 5.2 million children under the age of five died from treatable causes.¹⁴⁵ This loss of life could be prevented by known technologies, many of which are simply not available due to socially-constructed reasons to those who need them. Availability is restricted by indirect causes, such as paywalls on articles under copyright, which restrict the free flow of information and by direct causes like companies leveraging patents to restrict the manufacturing of medical products (e.g., restricting the sale of antiretroviral drugs to treat HIV in Africa¹⁴⁶). One way the appropriate technology movement is modernizing to overcome these IP-related barriers is to blend with the open-source approach to technology development¹⁴⁷ in order to overcome many appropriate technologies' shortcomings as a technology change model¹⁴⁸ and completely breaking away from IP restrictions. The OSAT approach, even in areas such as medical research, radically reduce the costs even in the upfront investment and can be funded publicly, while earning a high return on investment.¹⁴⁹

An open-source appropriate technology (OSAT)¹⁵⁰ is a technology that provides for the SDGs while being designed in ways synonymous with FOSS/FOSH.¹⁵¹ OSAT can also be used to empower communities,¹⁵² as people create value for themselves.¹⁵³ When using the open-source design paradigm, the OSAT must meet the traditional appropriate technology boundary conditions.¹⁵⁴ There are numerous groups, non-profit organizations, universities, companies and individuals that have embraced the open-source paradigm when working on an appropriate technology because of the growth of the Internet even to the least developed areas of the world (*see* next section for examples).¹⁵⁵ Following the OSAT paradigm, anyone can learn how to make and use appropriate

technology free of IP concerns while simultaneously adding to the collective open-source knowledge commons¹⁵⁶ by contributing ideas, designs, observations, experimental data, deployment logs, wish lists, etc. The primary current challenge is that these contributions are spread over hundreds of websites, often in different contexts and languages. Thus, not only there is duplication of efforts but people cannot easily find solutions. For example, open-source designs needed by an impoverished community in Honduras for a community renewable-energy microgrid exist and would help drive economic development in the area, but these are behind a paywall at the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE).¹⁵⁷ Another version of the designs is freely accessible, but it is only in English and not-tagged or searchable on Engineering for Change.¹⁵⁸ A COSD repository would solve this problem and provide a one-stop-shop for the community in Honduras along with for everyone else in the globe to find the OSAT they need to solve the problems they prioritize. It is thus imperative that the COSD is global in scope.

In addition, the COSD should not be limited to specific sectors or applications as open-source technologies can often solve problems far outside the scope of their intended use. For example, consider ImageJ¹⁵⁹ which is an open-source image processing and analysis software package originally developed to look at microscopic organisms. Due to its being open-source and highly adaptable, it is now being used even for remote-sensing work carried out by aerial drones over vast land areas.¹⁶⁰ OSAT development has already reached sophisticated devices such as open-source 3D printers used for both the design and the production of OSAT in a wide range of areas.¹⁶¹ For example, RepRap can be used for manufacturing tools for organic farming,¹⁶² to making microscopes¹⁶³ (*see Box 3*) for medical clinics or for full optical labs in schools and research facilities in developing communities for far less cost than conventional means.¹⁶⁴ In order to ensure 3D printing and other distributed digital manufacturing tools are actually an appropriate technology,¹⁶⁵ communities must be able to choose out of the millions of free designs what they want to manufacture, as well as what they can add to them. In addition, they must also have access to the Internet and to electricity (e.g., solar-powered 3D printers¹⁶⁶). Such distributed manufacturing with appropriate local feedstocks like waste plastic can be used to make a sustainable OSAT system for the circular economy (*see Box 5*).

With OSAT, all the information, data, plans, full digital design and manufacturing files, instructions for assembly and use, etc. are all freely available. This is in contrast to patents, which have been the primary means of technical deployment in the past. Patents generally only contain the idea and demand a licence agreement or commercial sale to disperse. With OSAT, these barriers to diffusion are lifted. Community members themselves decide what OSAT to deploy based on their own priorities. The community, however, needs to know it is there to meet their needs and they need a mechanism and the capacity to do it. OSAT often involves some investment and communities need to be assured that the devices will work before they take the risk with the investment. This is where there is a critical need for a centralised trusted database of vetted OSAT.

Most OSAT work focuses on a specific technology, such as low-tech off-grid wind turbines,¹⁶⁷ often from a technical or engineering perspective. There have been efforts on learning models,¹⁶⁸ as well as service learning,¹⁶⁹ yet there is a need to better tie an appropriate technology to technology diffusion.¹⁷⁰ This need exists because the development and diffusion of an appropriate technology and OSAT was largely pursued by the not-for-profit appropriate technology movement and was largely conducted by engineers.¹⁷¹ Stated simply, professional engineers and amateur makers can provide solid OSAT for any location to meet any given need. People throughout the world, however, need to be able to easily access this information. Thus, there remains a distinct need for increasing the rate of OSAT, which is why there is a pressing need for a trusted, global Centralised Open-source Database.

4. EXISTING DATABASES AND POTENTIAL PARTNERS

Fortunately, the creation of a COSD does not demand starting from scratch as there are many organizations, nonprofits and for-profit companies developing OSAT and maintaining existing small-scale databases. This section will not attempt to review all of them as they are extremely diverse in (i) technical focus areas, (ii) application targets, and (iii) national origin and language. Instead, several examples will be given for representative organizations that would be natural partners for the COSD and how they might work with the UN in mutual benefit to meet the SDGs.

Many OSAT are available, but are found scattered in databases for particular technologies. For example, the RepRap wiki maintains a list of databases that house 3D printable OS designs.¹⁷² As of January 2021, there are 48 databases, many of which contain thousands of designs, and some that maintain millions of designs. Similarly, there are dozens of databases that cater to those with access to other technical tools like CNC mills or laser cutters with OS designs. In addition, there are organizations that are dedicated to specific application areas, such as over 80 organizations focused on SDG 6 for water and sanitation that are operating in more than one country.¹⁷³ Similarly to the FairCap,¹⁷⁴ which develops digitally manufacturable low-cost activated carbon filters to clean drinking water, many single technology organizations are not included in any database. In addition, other complementary organizations focus on specific applications, like MANDATE, which is assembling an inventory of technologies commonly used to save maternal, fetal, and neonatal lives globally.¹⁷⁵ Substantial work is needed to get these database owners to enable SDG categorization as well as single technology NPOs to enable record importation of all of the OSAT into a central easily searched database.

The COSD has natural partners in the open-source community, like the OSHWA,¹⁷⁶ which aims to foster technological knowledge and encourage research that is accessible, collaborative and respects user freedom. OSHWA provides an Open-source Hardware certification,¹⁷⁷ which allows the community to quickly identify and represent hardware that complies with the community definition of open-source hardware.¹⁷⁸ The certified open hardware is organised by country, type and licence and is primarily from commercial open hardware vendors.

There are also many natural partners for the COSD from different countries. An example is Village Earth,¹⁷⁹ which is a U.S. non-profit that works to achieve sustainable community-based development by connecting communities with global resources through training, consulting, and networking with organizations worldwide. Village Earth leads communities through a series of workshops where participants create a community vision, identify obstacles or constraints, and create an actionable plan. Village Earth members then provide links to outside resources and knowledge through a variety of information sources that have been created within the organization including a digitized Appropriate Technology Library. Having a multilanguage updated database would accelerate Village Earth's mission and they could provide access to their Appropriate Technology Library to be indexed in the COSD. In addition, as their partner communities deployed OSAT, they could feed this back into the COSD to help provide vetting and ranking. There is already evidence that organizations like Village Earth are amenable to such partnerships because they have joined forces with Appropriate, ¹⁸⁰ a website for collaborative development of solutions, focused on sustainability, poverty reduction, and international development. Appropedia is a wiki-based website where a large number of participants are allowed to create and modify the content directly from their web browsers.

Appropedia offers insight into the benefits of a full COSD. It has enormous potential to assist in sustainable development because it takes on the administration of collaboratively organizing information, project examples, and best practices, thus allowing sustainability, appropriate technology, social entrepreneurship, service learning and international development organizations and individuals to focus on what they do best. Appropedia has already become the appropriate technology venue of choice for other organizations like Engineers Without Borders – Australia¹⁸¹ (a community organization that creates social value by developing skills, knowledge and appropriate engineering solutions), Demotech¹⁸² (an organization in the Netherlands that Re-designs concepts, tools, methods, ideas to make them accessible and affordable to everybody in the world), and the Full Belly Project¹⁸³ (an organization dedicated to empowering people in developing countries with the ability to achieve independent and sustainable economies by facilitating the design and distribution of appropriate technologies). It is set to expand rapidly as other organizations utilize its information transfer capability. Appropedia, combined with recent advances in semantic MediaWiki, can be viewed as the foundation for COSD as it allows users to add structured data to wiki pages and thus be easily organised and searched. The COSD could either directly partner with Appropedia to expand their offerings or partner with them as a content provider.

There are other organizations, like Open-source Ecology¹⁸⁴ (OSE), which has the goal to provide 'open-source blueprints for civilization' itself. These is perhaps an ambitious goal, but they are doing this by providing extremely practical innovations. OSE is providing the open-source plans for a Global Village Construction Set¹⁸⁵ (*see Box* 7), which is fifty of what OSE has identified as the most important devices for modern society. Each open-source device is meant to be modular, able to be built by anyone, and low-cost. Overall, the idea is to have a high-performance platform that allows for the easy fabrication of the fifty industrial machines that it takes to build a small, sustainable civilization with modern comforts. Their open-source solutions are at a fraction of commercial costs.



Caption: The fifty open-source devices in the Global Village Construction Set (left) being developed by Open-source Ecology and an example (right) is the 27-horsepower open-source LifeTrac tractor (CC-BY-SA). OSE uses a modular design so that components can be re-used or swapped. So, for example, the "power cube", which is a modular, universal, self-contained power unit, consisting of an engine coupled to a hydraulic pump, provides power from hydraulic fluid at high pressure through quick connect hoses. It can be used to power the tractor and can also be taken off to power other OSE machines.

There has been steady development of these fifty tools with help from specific open-source communities, like those working on laser cutters and 3D printers. OSE, however, has taken the lead on many tools like a tractor, backhoe, trencher, ironworker, rototiller, soil pulverizer and compressed earth block press, and has already prototyped and, in several cases, the technology (e.g., the tractor) has been replicated all over the world.

Some of the OSAT databases are businesses. For example, Wikifactory¹⁸⁶ is a hybrid social platform with an embedded hardware product development workspace that enables multi-person CAD collaboration. Wikifactory has over 70,000 members from 190 countries. Almost half of the projects on Wikifactory are aligned with the UN's Sustainable Development Goals and is their fastest growing project cluster.¹⁸⁷ It supports projects like Dronecoria, which is an open-source drone platform for aerial sowing of seed balls, for the efficient large-scale forest reforestation¹⁸⁸ and the 3B version (Bare Bones Build) of the Nextfood Aeroponic vertical farming system.¹⁸⁹ There are several databases that are commercial but contain some OSAT, like MyMiniFactory¹⁹⁰, which is a 3D-printing repository that sells some designs, but also has a vast quantity of free, easily-replicated open-source content. Websites like these would agree to partner as long as the COSD could provide them with more users.

Another example is Engineering for Change (E4C),¹⁹¹ developed by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, the IEEE and Engineers Without Borders USA, and includes many collaborators including the United Nations Major Group for Children and Youth. E4C helps develop affordable appropriate technologies. The most relevant E4C resource is the Solutions Library,¹⁹² a curated database of products that meet basic needs and SDGs. In the Solutions Library, products are arranged by technological category, searchable, able to be found by price, the region and the units distributed. Although very useful, many of the products do not have open-source documentation and are not amenable to local manufacturing. E4C operates as a searchable database that sends users out to partner companies offering the products. E4C solutions would need to be screened for full OS documentation to be included in the COSD.

NOTE ON A PROPOSED UN CENTRALIZED DATABASE OF OSAT

There are similar initiatives and websites centered in different countries. For example, in India, the Society for Research and Initiatives for Sustainable Technologies and Institutions (SRISTI)¹⁹³ maintains several databases of interest, including Common Property Resource Institutions (CIPRI) Database,¹⁹⁴ which is a database consisting of 138 cases of indigenous resource Institutions from across the world. SRISTI is also partnered with the HoneyBee Network¹⁹⁵, a collection of traditional knowledge, low-cost practices, medicinal plants, and grassroots innovations where the creators are acknowledged. Another example, Techpedia¹⁹⁶ has a database of 200,000 engineering projects by 550,000 students, mainly from India. In addition, the Grassroots Innovation Database GRID¹⁹⁷ maintained by the UNDP India and the HoneyBee Network currently has over 1,500 innovations. Similarly to many of the existing databases developed in the U.S., the quality of the documentation, as well as the ability to be replicated, varies widely and would benefit from a COSD quality-assurance approach.

One of the HoneyBee Network institutions is Gujarat Grassroots Innovation Augmentation Network (GIAN),¹⁹⁸ which is India's first technology business incubator focused on commercializing grassroots innovations (solutions generated by people at the grassroots levels to solve persistent problems, which are either not available or not affordable to the consumer masses in developing countries). GIAN maintains a database of U.S. patents that are no longer in force,¹⁹⁹ which is similar to the Free Inactive Patent Search²⁰⁰ developed in the U.S. for open-source technology development.²⁰¹

There are databases at the World Intellectual Property Organization²⁰² in their Patentscope and Global Design Database for existing patent searches as well as more complicated data analytics at Lens,²⁰³ which serves global patent and scholarly knowledge as a public good to inform science and technology enabled problem solving. Unfortunately, patent-related information is not nearly complete enough to meet the standards of modern OS documentation, particularly for distributed digital manufacturing. In the OS model, users can simply download complete design files, modify or customize them if needed and then digitally fabricate functional replicas of the technology. Even with complete access to a patent and a legal licence, replicating the technology from Patentscope or similar offerings is far more complicated, time consuming and costly. It should also be pointed out patent information explicitly does not include an open licence and thus is not appropriate for inclusion in the COSD until it has entered the public domain.

The Lens Cooperative is attempting to address some of the friction and delays caused with IP licensing for social enterprises (starting in 2021), however, the quality and completeness of the documentation based on patents is inadequate for OS-style digital replication.²⁰⁴ There are other academically-focused databases, like Google Scholar, which can also be used to obtain information about technologies that can help with SDGs. There is, however, a major difference between a patent document that is primarily legal and rarely contains all the necessary information for fabricating a product, or a scholarly article which often minimizes the 'method' for making a technology and the far more comprehensive OS model that provides complete design files to enable users to make modifications to designs in their native OS software (and thus accessible) format.

The WHO has published a compendium of new and emerging technologies that address global health concerns targeted at low-resource settings.²⁰⁵ Such independent and neutral vetting of technologies is needed for those developed by organizations like PATH that re-invent medical devices as reliable and easy-to-use tools that work in places where resources are limited (e.g., money, power and trained health care workers).²⁰⁶ It should be stressed that OSAT can be sophisticated high-tech and normally expensive products such as autosamplers²⁰⁷ for rapid biomedical research (*see Box 8*).

<caption>

Caption: Commercial microsyringe manipulation is common for automated sampling of liquids or gases and normally costs over \$30,000. Osmar, is a viable technically-accessible alternative that can be adapted and expanded for more general liquid handling tasks and be built for under \$1,000 (CC-By).

5. DOWNLOADED SUBSTITUTION VALUE AND RETURN ON INVESTMENT

The return on investment (ROI) for the development of FOSH can be calculated from the downloaded substitution value (discussed in the annex. To understand how powerful this approach is, consider a simple open-source syringe pump library design²⁰⁸ and example derivative²⁰⁹ (*see Box 9*), which may be government funded for scientific innovation acceleration, but also have applications in STEM education and medicine. Currently, the repositories the open-source syringe pump is housed on do not allow tracking of uptake by country, which is a feature that could be integrated into the COSD to help quantify the value for developing countries of FOSH designs.

Box 9: Open-Source Syringe Pumps

Low-cost open-source pumps are completely customizable allowing both the volume and the motor to scale for specific applications including carefully controlled dosing of chemical reagents, pharmaceuticals, and other applications. The design, bill of materials and assembly instructions are globally available to all for free.



The pump library was designed using open-source and freely available OpenSCAD, which is a script-based, parametric CAD package enabling users to customize the design for themselves. The majority of the pump parts can be fabricated with an open-source RepRap-class 3D printer and readily available parts such as a stepper motor and steel rods. The pumps can be used as wireless control devices attached to an open-source Raspberry Pi computer (middle image). Thus, one can control the pumps from any internet-connected device like a laptop or smart phone. Performance of the syringe pumps generated by the open-source library were found to be consistent with the quality of commercial syringe pumps.

The cost to purchase a traditionally manufactured syringe pump, Cp, ranges from \$260-\$1,509 for a single pump and \$1,800-\$2,606 for a dual pump (left and center images). Cf for the materials for an open-source syringe pump is \$97 and \$154 for the single and double pump. As of December 2020, the designs for the open-source pump, have been downloaded from two digital repositories a total of ND = 10,646 times (2,177: Thingiverse 8,469: Youmagine). The time to assemble either the single or double pump is less than an hour and can be accomplished by a non-expert. The assembler hourly rate is assumed to be \$10/hour as no special skills are needed. P was assumed to be 1, as although 3D printer owners may view many designs, they only download the STL files (STereoLithography is a file format used for 3D printers) of the designs they intend to print. This provides a savings for substituting the open-source pump for a commercial one of \$153 to \$1,402 for a single and \$1,636 to \$2,442 for the double pump. Thus, following equation 1, the value VDT of the pump library in December of 2020 ranged from over \$1.6m to over \$25.9m. The value actually increases far more when considering the additional secondary benefits of enhanced research, derivations such as the Y-struder (right image) that allows for material testing for additive manufacturing, enhanced education (for students that can now afford to use a syringe pump) and any secondary values from improved medical care when the pump is used. The ROI based on an I of \$30,000 by equation 2 is over 5,000% at the minimum. (CC-BY-SA)

The ROI for even modest use would be expected to be many times the investment as the COSD would be expected to drive more use than any single repository and if adopted widely far more than the aggregate all of the current scattered repositories.

6. WHY THE UN SHOULD TAKE THE LEAD

As summarized in the introduction, the UN already has established a leadership role in advocating open-source technology for the member countries through the UNCTAD E-Commerce and Development Report 2003, the Information Economy Report 2012, the intergovernmental deliberations since the 15th session of the CSTD in 2011-2012.

Critics may point out that the private sector could potentially provide this solution, as for example, there are 3D design search engines like Yeggi, and companies like Google or Amazon, that are well positioned to make a search engine to cover OS designs for SDGs, or a database of SDG-relevant products. There are, however, major issues with having central OS repositories owned by private companies. For example, GitHub, the largest FOSS repository in the world, was purchased by Microsoft. An engineer at Blockstack,²¹⁰ which posts its open-source software on GitHub explains: "GitHub doesn't compete with most companies, but Microsoft is a potential competitor or acquirer for a huge percentage of smaller companies in the tech industry. Giving your competitor

access to your company's most valuable secrets understandably makes people uneasy."²¹¹ This indicates the risk with having the COSD run by either a single nation (that could potentially exclude or limit participation from its geographic rivals), or a company (that could exclude the best work of its business rivals). There are two examples that demonstrate the real risk of operating a central open-source database from a private company or attempting to profit from it by restricting access.

First, even an open-source 'champion' company is vulnerable to changes in policies because of conflicts with funders. This occurred with MakerBot, which was previously a model open hardware 3D-printing company. It was the largest and most successful prosumer 3D-printing company up to 2012, literally helping build the Maker Movement in the United States. MakerBot was purchased in 2013 by a conventional IP-focused additivemanufacturing company, Stratasys. With the change in ownership, MakerBot abandoned the open-source ethos and largely lost the support of the maker community. Supporters and customers were outraged by the sudden change in licensing of their files on the MakerBot online service Thingiverse, as the company attempted to patent designs which were freely uploaded, deleting previously-supported documentation, and only releasing new printers and software as proprietary.²¹² Many users pulled their designs in protest (Occupy Thingiverse) and the majority of designs became 'private.'²¹³ The previously exponential increase in open designs observed in Thingiverse²¹⁴ slowed to less than a million a year in 2020. This number now stands at only 4.6m designs in total, many of which are personalizations or have been deleted by the designers. MakerBot's initial proprietary designs failed²¹⁵ and their "Smart Extruder" was so poor that it resulted in a class action lawsuit from investors against Stratasys for purchasing MakerBot. Compounding failures have largely destroyed Makerbot as their 3D printer sales have plummeted, resulting in laying off its entire manufacturing force in the U.S.²¹⁶ This same risk is present if a country suddenly changes its political preferences and thus radically changes their international collaboration and foreign policy.

In areas where the open-source ethos is mature, IP closure to extract a profit from freely given information risks losing the best developers. This was apparent when thousands of the top machine learning and artificial intelligence (AI) researchers²¹⁷ boycotted the *Nature Machine Intelligence* journal because it was not open access. Machine learning has been at the forefront of the movement for free and open access to research. For example, in 2001, the Editorial Board of the *Machine Learning* Journal resigned *en masse* to form a new zero-cost open access journal, the *Journal of Machine Learning Research (JMLR)*.²¹⁸ Quoting from the 2001 resignation letter:

"...journals should principally serve the needs of the intellectual community, in particular by providing the immediate and universal access to journal articles that modern technology supports, and doing so at a cost that excludes no one."

Today, the closed *Machine Learning* journal has an impact factor of 2.672, while the open *JMLR* has an impact factor about double at 5.310.²¹⁹ The impact factor is a scientometric index that reflects the yearly average number of citations that articles published in the last two years in a given journal received and is generally used as proxy for the relative importance of a journal within its field. This indicates that the best developers favor an open-source approach and that the IP-restricted venues to extract profit will not house the highest-quality information.

For these reasons, the COSD should be operated by a non-profit entity from an international and highly-trusted organization. The UN is rightly positioned.

A trusted centralised database or repository of high-quality open-source designs can accelerate the diffusion of the technologies. Currently, there is no such database available. Databases focusing on technology like the patent databases do not provide the level of detail required. The efficacy of this approach on a limited scale was witnessed by the COVID-19 PPE shortage in the U.S. that was solved in part by an agreement²²⁰ by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, and Veterans Health Administration within the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs to accelerate distributed manufacturing of 3D-printed protective gear for COVID-19 response.²²¹ The successful process began with the existing NIH's 3D Print Exchange, which is used to share and find 3D models that are clinically relevant and readily compatible with distributed digital manufacturing. The maker community submitted their open-source

designs relevant to COVID-19 to the repository, and then the Veterans Health Administration, NIH and FDA evaluate and test the submitted designs. For hospitals, many of which had no (or little) prior 3D printing experience, having a trusted source and a point of contact to address questions about 3D-printable medical devices and products such as PPE, was critical to enable the FOSH to be used in hospitals by the tens of thousands to overcome the shortage. This worked despite the U.S. medical system being largely private for-profit hospitals, highly fractured and competitive. Similarly, for a global Central Open-source Database to be most effective, it needs to be housed in a trusted central authority like the UN.

The UN is experienced and highly-qualified at forging partnerships, essentially mirroring the NIH example in the U.S. for the whole world with the Tech Access Partnership (TAP) program initiated by the UN Technology Bank that supports developing countries to scale up local production of critical health technologies needed to combat COVID-19 and ensure equitable access to essential health technologies. Because TAP does not provide the actionable designs as the NIH does, the COSD would provide direct access to needed information to produce OSAT and thus fill the gap.

The DESA's Division for Sustainable Development Goals and the UN Office for Information and Communication Technology released 2030 Connect jointly with UNCTAD and WIPO in July 2020. This is an online tool intended for entrepreneurs, innovators, students and leaders from around the world to exchange ideas and technology, build networks, and work to advance the SDGs.²²² At present, the information on technologies currently available in 2030 Connect is not specific and concrete enough to allow a producer in a developing country to manufacture an OSAT that is relevant to a SDG or several SDGs, as one could use the disclosed information by Harvard on making ventilators and by Switzerland on the WHO's website on making hand sanitizer. The 2030 Connect tool is primarily focused on forming partnerships and the information on the 2030 Connect provides contact information of innovators for a particular technology but does not provide sufficient information (i.e. a complete recipe) to produce the technology.

The COSD, on the other hand, will contain detailed information and steps on how to fabricate and use an OSAT that is relevant to a SDG or several SDGs, and in some cases the digital designs to directly replicate it. However, there is no need to create the COSD from scratch. The 2030 Connect could be enhanced in the direction to fulfill the tasks of the COSD.

The success of the COSD depends on support from the UN Member States as well as collaboration and cooperation among UN agencies including UNCTAD, DESA, UNDP and regional commissions. Private sector engagement in COSD is equally important. For example, companies that already belonging to organizations like Open-Source Hardware Association may find it beneficial to share their own designs with the COSD.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Technologies that are appropriate to the needs of developing countries in achieving SDGs are badly needed. Commercially available technologies are often too costly for many users in developing countries to afford or too difficult for local adaptation and adoption. Financial and intellectual property constraints also make traditional technology transfer a serious challenge for many developing countries.

The open-source approach to technology diffusion is a fast-developing model to provide developing countries access to technologies. OSAT are increasingly seen as key to supporting these countries' efforts to achieve SDGs.

Many initiatives, including several within the UN system, have been created to facilitate transfer of technology including FOSS. The current deficiencies in relation to these initiatives, such as narrow or sector-specific coverage of technologies, lack of or insufficient technical information and scattering of technologies among various database make it difficult for producers and consumers in developing countries to locate OSAT easily.

A COSD to be hosted by the UN could address these existing deficiencies. Joint efforts from relevant UN agencies, support from the UN Member States and the private sector are necessary to make it a success.

Endnotes

https://opensource.org/osd). Free software focuses on the fundamental freedoms it gives to users, whereas open-source software focuses on the advantages of peer-to-peer technical development model. FOSS is used here to avoid bias towards either political approach.

LeClair, H., 2016. 65% of companies are contributing to open-source projects. See https://opensource.com/business/16/5/2016-future-open-source-survey ¹⁰ The superiority of FOSS method for software development is well-documented. See: Raymond, E. (1999). The cathedral and the bazaar. Philosophy & Technology, 12(3), 23.; Zeitlyn, D. (2003). Gift economies in the development of open-source software: anthropological reflections. Research Policy, 32(7), 1287-1291.; Lakhani, K. R., & Von Hippel, E. (2003). How open-source software works: "free" user-to-user assistance. Research Policy, 32(6), 923-943.; Comino, S., Manenti, F. M., & Parisi, M. L. (2007). From planning to mature: On the success of open-source projects. Research Policy, 36(10), 1575-1586.; Lee, S. Y. T., Kim, H. W., & Gupta, S. (2009). Measuring open-source software success. Omega, 37(2), 426-438.; Herstatt, C. and Ehls, D., 2015. Open-source Innovation: The Phenomenon, Participant's Behaviour, Business Implications. Routledge.

¹¹ Vaughan-Nichols, S. J. Supercomputers: All Linux, all the time. ZDNet. 2018. https://www.zdnet.com/article/supercomputers-all-linux-all-the-time/

¹² Hiteshdawda. Realising the Value of Cloud Computing with Linux. (2020). <u>https://www.rackspace.com/en-gb/blog/realising-the-value-of-cloud-</u> computing-with-linux

¹⁴ Smartphone Market Share - OS. IDC: The premier global market intelligence company. 2020. <u>https://www.idc.com/promo/smartphone-market-share</u>

¹⁵ Eclipse. IoT Developer Survey 2019 Results. <u>https://iot.eclipse.org/community/resources/iot-surveys/assets/iot-developer-survey-2019.pdf</u>

¹⁶ <u>https://www.osalt.com</u>

¹⁷ https://www.libreoffice.org/discover/who-uses-libreoffice

18 Lewis, J.A., 2010. Government open-source policies. Center for Strategic and International Studies. https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fspublic/legacy files/files/media/csis/pubs/0807218 government opensource policies.pdf

Cimpanu, C. Two of China's largest tech firms are uniting to create a new 'domestic OS' | ZDNet. 2019. https://www.zdnet.com/google-amp/article/twoof-chinas-largest-tech-firms-are-uniting-to-create-a-new-domestic-os

Winning bid software + Tianjin Kirin = the new flagship of China's domestic operating system-China Electronics.

https://www.cec.com.cn/jtxw/2019/1209/8ac085cc6e112a0f016ee947c8ac00b5.html

²¹ Open-source Software Country Intelligence- Finland. Unit.D2 <u>https://joinup.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/inline-</u> files/SoP%20of%20OSS%20policies Finland v3.00 0.pdf

https://web.archive.org/web/20150815135609/ http://deity.gov.in/sites/upload_files/dit/files/policy_on_adoption_of_oss.pdf ²³ Clarke, G. Peru's parliament approves pro-open-source bill. 2005. <u>https://www.theregister.com/2005/09/29/peru_goes_open_source</u>

²⁴ Casson, Tony; Ryan, Patrick S. (2006). "Open Standards, Open-source Adoption in the Public Sector, and Their Relationship to Microsoft's Market Dominance". In Bolin, Sherrie (ed.). Standards Edge: Unifier or Divider?. Sheridan Books. p. 87. ISBN 978-0974864853.

Policy on free and open-source software use for South African government. Department of Public Service & Administration August 2006. https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/fosspolicy0.pdf

https://www.estebanmendieta.com/blog/wp-content/uploads/Decreto 1014 software libre Ecuador.pdf

²⁷ Scott, Tony; Rung, Anne E (2016). Federal Source Code Policy: Achieving Efficiency, Transparency, and Innovation through Reusable and Open-source Software — Memorandum for the Heads of Departments and Agencies — M-16-21. Washington DC, USA: Office of Budget and Management, Executive Office of the President. https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/omb/memoranda/2016/m 16 21.pdf

²⁸ Powell, A. (2012). Democratizing production through open-source knowledge: from open software to open hardware. Media, Culture & Society, 34(6), 691-708.

Gibb, A. (2014). Building open-source hardware: DIY manufacturing for hackers and makers. Pearson Education.

²⁹ OSHWA. Definition. <u>https://www.oshwa.org/definition/</u>

³⁰ Dosemagen, S., Liboiron, M., & Molloy, J. (2017). Gathering for Open Science Hardware 2016.

³¹ Yip, M. C., & Forsslund, J. (2017). Spurring Innovation in Spatial Haptics: How Open-Source Hardware Can Turn Creativity Loose. IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine, 24(1), 65-76.

³² <u>http://www.arduino.cc/</u>

³³ See for example: Banzi, M. (2011). Getting Started with Arduino. 2nd Edition. Make. Margolis, M. (2011). Arduino cookbook. O'Reilly Media. Monk, S. (2012). Programming Arduino: Getting Started with Sketches. McGraw-Hill. See https://create.arduino.cc/projecthub/

³⁴ Rahul Narang, 2020. Advanced Irrigation System. See https://create.arduino.cc/projecthub/narangrahulrahul8/advanced-irrigation-system-eeb622

³⁵ Wittbrodt, B.T., et al., J.M., 2015. Open-source photometric system for enzymatic nitrate quantification. *PloS One*, 10(8).

³⁶ De Maria, C., et al. 2014. Open-source biomedical engineering for sustainability in African healthcare: Combining academic excellence with innovation. In Proceedings of the ICDS (pp. 23-27).

⁷ Pearce, J., 2018. Sponsored Libre Research Agreements to Create Free and Open-source Software and Hardware. Inventions, 3(3), p.44.

³⁸ <u>http://www.open-electronics.org</u>

³⁹ https://ohwr.org

40 http://opencircuitinstitute.org

E-Commerce and development report 2003. United Nations. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ecdr2003 en.pdf

UNCTAD (Ed.). (2012). The software industry and developing countries. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ier2012_en.pdf

Free and open-source software - FOSS

Weber, S., 2009. The Success of Open-source. Harvard University Press.

Commission on Science & Technology for Development. https://unctad.org/meeting/commission-science-and-technology-development-fifteenth-session The 17 Goals | Sustainable Development https://sdgs.un.org/goals

⁷ The Maker movement is a new technology-based extension of DIY culture that focuses on learning practical skills and applies them to reference designs, creating new devices as well as tinkering with existing ones. People that belong to this culture are called makers. Makers support open-source hardware. Makers actively share their IP with the global community freely. For makers, having others copy and reuse their designs are a point of pride not something that would trigger a lawsuit as with previous conceptions of IP.

⁸⁸ "Free" here refers to a user's freedom to use, copy, study, and change the software in any way as well as sell it (https://www.gnu.org/philosophy/freesw.html) because of the "Open-source" or access to the source code. To be open-source, software must meet several requirements (see

¹³ Parloff, R. How Linux Conquered the Fortune 500. Fortune (2013). https://fortune.com/2013/05/06/how-linux-conquered-the-fortune-500/

⁴¹ <u>http://www.opencircuits.com/Projects</u>

- ⁴² https://www.hackster.io
- ⁴³ https://www.codemade.io
- 44 https://hackaday.com
- 45 https://www.sparkfun.com
- ⁴⁶ https://www.adafruit.com
- ⁴⁷ https://tinycircuits.com
- ⁴⁸ https://www.seeedstudio.com

⁴⁹ See: Oberloier, S. and Pearce, J.M. (2018) Belt-Driven Open-source Circuit Mill Using Low-Cost 3-D Printer Components, *Inventions* 3(3), 64. Anzalone, G. C., et al. Multi-material additive and subtractive prosumer digital fabrication with a free and open-source convertible delta RepRap 3-D printer. *Rapid Prototyping Journal* 21, 506–519 (2015). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/RPJ-09-2014-0113</u>

⁵⁰ See: Scan, B. How to Make (almost) Anything. The Economist, 2005. http://www.economist.com/node/4031304

Gershenfeld, N. How to Make almost Anything: The Digital Fabrication Revolution. 2012. http://cba.mit.edu/docs/papers/12.09.FA.pdf

Markillie, P. A Third Industrial Revolution. *The Economist*. 2012. Available from <u>http://www.economist.com/node/21552901</u>

⁵¹ See for example: Von Hippel, E., 2009. Democratizing innovation: the evolving phenomenon of user innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Science*. Vol. 1 No. 1, pp. 29-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1260/175722209787951224</u>

Rifkin, J., 2012. The third industrial revolution: How the internet, green electricity, and 3-d printing are ushering in a sustainable era of distributed capitalism. *World Financial Review*, 1(1), pp.4052-4057.

Ferdinand, J.P., Petschow, U. and Dickel, S. eds., 2016. The decentralised and networked future of value creation: 3D printing and its implications for society, industry, and sustainable development. Springer.

Thomson, C.C. and Jakubowski, M., 2012. Toward an open-source civilization: (Innovations case narrative: Open-source ecology). Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization, 7(3), pp.53-70.

⁵² Rundle, G., 2014. A Revolution in the Making. Simon and Schuster.

⁵³ <u>https://www.creality3dofficial.com/products/official-creality-ender-3-3d-printer</u>

⁵⁴ https://reprap.org/wiki/RepRap

⁵⁵ Tymrak, B.M., et al., 2014. Mechanical properties of components fabricated with open-source 3-D printers under realistic environmental conditions. *Materials & Design*, 58, pp.242-246.

⁵⁶ Gershenfeld, N. *Fab: The Coming Revolution on Your Desktop – from Personal Computers to Personal Fabrication*; Basic Books: New York, NY, 2005. Bradshaw, S.; Bowyer, A.; Haufe, P. The intellectual property implications of low-cost 3D printing. *ScriptEd.* 2010, 7 (1), 1-27; Weinberg, M. (2010). It will be awesome if they don't screw it up; *See also,* Cano, J. The Cambrian explosion of popular 3D printing. Int. J. of Artificial Intelligence and Interactive Multimedia. 2011, 1 (4), 30-32.

⁵⁷ Pearce, J.M. et al., "3-D Printing of Open-source Appropriate Technologies for Self-Directed Sustainable Development," *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 3(4), 17-29, 2010.

⁵⁸ Arnott, R. The RepRap project – open-source meets 3D printing. Computer and Information Science Seminar Series. 2008.

Bowyer, A. (2004) Wealth Without Money. RepRap Wiki. Available: http://reprap.org/wiki/Wealth Without Money

⁵⁹ Petersen, E., et al., 2017. Impact of DIY home manufacturing with 3D printing on the toy and game market. *Technologies*, 5(3), p.45.

⁶⁰ Gallup, N. and Pearce, J.M., 2020. The Economics of Classroom 3-D Printing of Open-Source Digital Designs of Learning Aids. Designs, 4(4), p.50.

⁶¹ Niemand, J., et al. 2020, September. Design and testing of recycled 3D printed foldable unmanned aerial vehicle for remote sensing. In 2020 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS) (pp. 892-901). IEEE.

⁶² Wittbrodt, B. and Pearce, J.M., 2017. 3-D printing solar photovoltaic racking in developing world. Energy for Sustainable Development, 36, pp.1-5.

⁶³ Savonen, B., et al., Open-Source Three-Dimensional Printable Infant Clubfoot Brace, *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*: 32(2), 149-158, 2020.

⁶⁴ Zuniga, J.M., et al., 2016. An open-source 3D-printed transitional hand prosthesis for children. *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, 28(3), pp.103-108. Schmidt, R., et al., 2015. 3D-printed prosthetics for the developing world. In *SIGGRAPH 2015: Studio* (1).

⁶⁵ Gwamuri, J., et al. Reversing the Trend of Large Scale and Centralization in Manufacturing: The Case of Distributed Manufacturing of Customizable 3-D-Printable Self-Adjustable Glasses. *Chall. Sustain.* 2014, 2, 30–40.

⁶⁶ Gallup, N., et al., 2018. Economic Potential for Distributed Manufacturing of Adaptive Aids for Arthritis Patients in the US. *Geriatrics*, 3(4), p.89.

⁶⁷ Wittbrodt B, et al., JM (2013) Life-cycle economic analysis of distributed manufacturing with open-source 3-D printers. *Mechatronics* 23(6):713-726.
 ⁶⁸ <u>https://reprap.org/wiki/Printable_part_sources</u>

⁶⁹ Petersen, E.E. & Pearce, J.M. Emergence of Home Manufacturing in the Developed World: Return on Investment for Open-source 3-D Printers.

Technologies 5(1), 7 (2017).

⁷⁰ Lippert, J., Burghaus, R., Edginton, A., Frechen, S., Karlsson, M., Kovar, A., Lehr, T., Milligan, P., Nock, V., Ramusovic, S. and Riggs, M., 2019. Open systems pharmacology community—an open access, open-source, open science approach to modeling and simulation in pharmaceutical sciences. *CPT: pharmacometrics & systems pharmacology*, 8(12), pp.878-882. *See also* <u>http://www.open-systems-pharmacology.org</u>

⁷¹ https://www.opensourcepharma.net

⁷² <u>https://www.ospfound.org/achievements</u>

73 http://opensourcemalaria.org

⁷⁴ https://www.synapse.org/#!Synapse:syn16924919/wiki/583955

⁷⁵ <u>http://vinodscaria.rnabiology.org/nipah</u>

⁷⁶ https://projects.cri-paris.org/projects/BO1MIF98/summary

⁷⁷ Hollingsworth, J.R., 2006. A path-dependent perspective on institutional and organizational factors shaping major scientific discoveries. *Innovation, Science, and Institutional Change*, pp.423-442.

⁷⁸ Munos, B., 2010. Can Open-Source Drug R&D Repower Pharmaceutical Innovation? *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 87(5), pp.534-536.

⁷⁹ Canessa, E., Fonda, C., Zennaro, M. and Deadline, N., 2013. Low-cost 3D printing for science, education and sustainable development. Low-Cost 3D Printing, 11.

⁸⁰ Pearce, J.M., 2012. Building research equipment with free, open-source hardware. *Science*, *337*(6100), 1303-1304; *See also* Pearce, J.M., 2013. *Open-source lab: how to build your own hardware and reduce research costs*. Elsevier.

⁸¹ <u>https://www.journals.elsevier.com/hardwarex</u>

⁸² https://openhardware.metajnl.com/

⁸³ https://channels.plos.org/open-source-toolkit

⁸⁴ There are many studies that document enormous economic savings with FOSH see: Baden, T. et al. 2015. Open Labware: 3-D printing your own lab equipment. *PLoS Biology* 13(3) p.e1002086; *See also* Fisher, D.K. & Gould, P. J. Open-source hardware is a low-cost alternative for scientific instrumentation and research. *Modern instrumentation* (2012); Pearce. J.M. Impacts of Open-source Hardware in Science and Engineering. *The National Academy of Engineering: The Bridge*. 47 (3), 24-31, 2017; Damase, T.R., et al., 2015. Open-source and DIY hardware for DNA nanotechnology labs. *Journal of Biological Methods*, 2(3), p.e24.

⁸⁵ Pearce, J.M., 2020. Economic savings for scientific free and open-source technology: A review. *HardwareX*, 8, p.e00139.

⁸⁶ Ulrich B. Open-source wideband (DC to MHz range) isolated current sensor. *HardwareX*. 2019;5.

⁸⁷ Dellal D., et al. Low-cost plug and play photochemistry reactor. *HardwareX*. 2018;3:1–9.

⁸⁸ Pereira VR, Hosker BS. Low-cost (<€5), open-source, potential alternative to commercial spectrophotometers. *PLOS Biology*. 2019 juin;17(6):e3000321.

⁸⁹ Pusch K, Hinton TJ, Feinberg AW. Large volume syringe pump extruder for desktop 3D printers. *HardwareX*. 2018;3:49–61.

⁹⁰ Kinstlinger IS, Bastian A, Paulsen SJ, Hwang DH, Ta AH, Yalacki DR, et al. Open-Source Selective Laser Sintering (OpenSLS) of Nylon and Biocompatible Polycaprolactone. *PLOS ONE*. 2016;11(2):e0147399.

⁹¹ Carvalho MC, Murray RH. Osmar, the open-source microsyringe autosampler. HardwareX. 2018;3:10–38.

92 Ibid.

⁹³ Sharkey, J.P., et al. 2016. A one-piece 3D printed flexure translation stage for open-source microscopy. *Review of Scientific Instruments*, 87(2), p.025104.

Collins, J.T., et al., 2020. Robotic microscopy for everyone: the OpenFlexure Microscope. *Biomedical Optics Express*, 11(5), pp.2447-2460. Stirling, J. et al. The OpenFlexure Project. The technical challenges of Co-Developing a microscope in the UK and Tanzania. See also https://zenodo.org/record/3862777 (2020)

⁹⁴ Meng, Q., et al. 2020. The OpenFlexure Block Stage: sub-100 nm fibre alignment with a monolithic plastic flexure stage. *Optics Express*, 28(4), pp.4763-4772.

⁹⁵ Grant, S.D., et al. 2019. Adapting the 3D-printed Openflexure microscope enables computational super-resolution imaging. *F1000Research*, *8*.
 ⁹⁶ Jones, R., Haufe, P., Sells, E., (2011) RepRap - the Replicating Rapid Prototyper, *Robotica*, 29(1) pp. 177-191; *See also* Hodgson, G. (2013). Interview with Adrian Bowyer. *RepRap Magazine* Issue 1, pp. 8-14; *See also* Sells, E. et al. RepRap: the replicating rapid prototype maximizing customizability by breeding the means of production. MCPC-045-2007. Cambridge, MA; *See also* Coakley, M. and Hurt, D.E., 2016. 3D printing in the laboratory: Maximize time and funds with customized and open-source labware. *Journal of Laboratory Automation*, 21(4), pp.489-495.

⁹⁷ Barber, R., Horra, M. and Crespo, J., 2013. Control practices using simulink with Arduino as low cost hardware. *IFAC Proceedings* 46(17), pp.250-255.
 ⁹⁸ Faugel, H. and Bobkov, V., 2013. Open-source hard-and software: Using Arduino boards to keep old hardware running. *Fusion Engineering and Design*, 88(6-8), pp.1276-1279.

⁹⁹Anderson, P.; Sherman, C.A. A discussion of new business models for 3D printing. *Int. J. Technol. Mark.* 2007, 2, 280–294. *See also* Laplume, A. et al. Global value chains from a 3D printing perspective. *J. Int. Bus. Stud.* 2016, 47, 595–609; *See also* Laplume, A. et al. Open-source, self-replicating 3-D printer factory for small-business manufacturing. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2015, 85, 633–642.

printer factory for small-business manufacturing. *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.* 2015, 85, 633–642. ¹⁰⁰ Sanchez, F.A.C., et al. 2020. Plastic recycling in additive manufacturing: a systematic literature review and opportunities for the circular economy. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, p.121602.

¹⁰¹ Dertinger, S.C., et al. 2020. Technical pathways for distributed recycling of polymer composites for distributed manufacturing: Windshield wiper blades. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 157, p.104810.

¹⁰² Sanchez, F.A.C., et al. 2015, August. Polymer Recycling and Additive Manufacturing in an Open-source context: Optimization of processes and methods. In Annual international solid freeform fabrication symposium, ISSF 2015 (pp. 1591-1600).

¹⁰³ Ravindran, A., et al., 2019. Open-source Waste Plastic Granulator. *Technologies*, 7(4), p.74.

¹⁰⁴ See <u>https://www.appropedia.org/Recyclebot</u>, Note: recyclebots can be 3D printed themselves: Woern, A.L., et al. 2018. RepRapable Recyclebot: Opensource 3-D printable extruder for converting plastic to 3-D printing filament. *HardwareX*, 4, p.e00026.

¹⁰⁵ Zhong, S. and Pearce, J.M., 2018. Tightening the loop on the circular economy: Coupled distributed recycling and manufacturing with recyclebot and RepRap 3-D printing. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *128*, pp.48-58.

¹⁰⁶ Zhong, S., et al. 2017. Energy payback time of a solar photovoltaic powered waste plastic recyclebot system. *Recycling*, 2(2), p.10. https://doi.org/10.3390/recycling2020010

¹⁰⁷ Woern, A.L., et al. 2018. Fused particle fabrication 3-D printing: Recycled materials' optimization and mechanical properties. *Materials*, 11(8), p.1413. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma11081413

¹⁰⁸ Alexandre, A., et al., 2020. Mechanical Properties of Direct Waste Printing of Polylactic Acid with Universal Pellets Extruder: Comparison to Fused Filament Fabrication on Open-Source Desktop Three-Dimensional Printers. *3D Printing and Additive Manufacturing*. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/3dp.2019.0195</u>

¹⁰⁹ Little, H.A., et al. 2020. Towards distributed recycling with additive manufacturing of PET flake feedstocks. Materials, 13(19), p.4273. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13194273</u> and Zander, N.E., Gillan, M., Burckhard, Z. and Gardea, F., 2019. Recycled polypropylene blends as novel 3D printing materials. *Additive Manufacturing*, *25*, pp.122-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2018.11.009</u>

¹¹⁰ Reich, M.J., et al. 2019. Mechanical properties and applications of recycled polycarbonate particle material extrusion-based additive manufacturing. Materials, 12(10), p.1642. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12101642</u>

¹¹¹ Mohammed, M.I., et al., 2018, November. EcoPrinting: investigation of solar powered plastic recycling and additive manufacturing for enhanced waste management and sustainable manufacturing. In 2018 IEEE Conference on Technologies for Sustainability (SusTech) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

¹¹² Kreiger, M. et al., 2014. Life cycle analysis of distributed recycling of post-consumer high density polyethylene for 3-D printing filament. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 70, pp.90-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.02.009</u>

¹¹³ Kreiger, M. and Pearce, J.M., 2013. Environmental life cycle analysis of distributed three-dimensional printing and conventional manufacturing of polymer products. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 1(12), pp.1511-1519. <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/sc400093k</u>

¹¹⁴ Soergel, A. Coronavirus Outbreak Throws Future of Global Trade Into Question. US News & World Report <u>https://www.usnews.com/news/best-</u> <u>countries/articles/2020-04-10/coronavirus-outbreak-throws-future-of-global-trade-into-question</u>

¹¹⁵ <u>https://www.springernature.com/gp/researchers/campaigns/coronavirus</u>

¹¹⁶ https://www.sciencedirect.com/articlelist/covid

¹¹⁷ https://www.nejm.org/coronavirus

¹¹⁸ Pearce, J.M. 2020. A review of open-source ventilators for COVID-19 and future pandemics. *F1000Research*, 9:218. *See* <u>https://f1000research.com/articles/9-218/v2</u>

¹¹⁹ Prusa. 2020. 3D printed face shields for medics and professionals. See https://www.prusa3d.com/covid19/

¹²⁰ Free Sewing, 2020. Calling all makers: Here's a 1-page PDF facemask pattern; Now go make some and help beat this thing. *See* https://freesewing.org/blog/facemask-frenzy/
 ¹²¹ https://3dprint.nih.gov/collections/covid-19-response
 ¹²² Helpful Engineering. 2020. *See* https://app.jogl.io/project/121#about
 ¹²³ Enrich, D., Abrams, R., Kurutz, S., 2020. A Sewing Army, Making Masks for America. The New York Times.
 ¹²⁴ Taylor, C. 2012. Wired's Chris Anderson: Today's "Maker Movement" is the New Industrial Revolution. *TechCrunch*.
 http://techcrunch.com/2012/10/09/wireds-chris-anderson-todays-maker-movement-is-the-new-industrial-revolution-tctv/
 ¹²⁵ Pearce, J.M., 2020. *Create, Share, and Save Money Using Open-Source Projects*. McGraw Hill.
 ¹²⁶ Correct A., et al. 2010. Nummer Revolution of Correct to Ensemption Facematicn in Africa.

¹²⁶ Gupta, A., et al., 2019. Honey Bee Network in Africa: Co-creating a Grassroots Innovation Ecosystem in Africa. https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/206968/1/1049302001.pdf

¹²⁷ https://eu.usatoday.com/story/tech/2015/02/24/gumroad-helps-makers-get-paid-through-social-media-blasts/23961545/

¹²⁸ Byard, D.J., et al. 2019. Green fab lab applications of large-area waste polymer-based additive manufacturing. *Additive Manufacturing*, 27, pp.515-525.

¹²⁹ Santander, P., et al. 2020. Closed loop supply chain network for local and distributed plastic recycling for 3D printing: a MILP-based optimization approach. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 154*, p.104531.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104531

¹³⁰ <u>https://wiki.hackerspaces.org/List_of_Hacker_Spaces</u>

¹³¹ https://www.fablabs.io/labs/map

¹³² https://www.nationofmakers.us/find-a-makerspace

¹³³ Gurstein, M. 2000. Community Informatics: Enabling communities with communications technologies. Hershey, PA: Idea Group Publishing.

¹³⁴ King, E.M., & Hill, M.A. 1993. Women's Education in Developing Countries, World Bank Publications, The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MA. See also Arunachalam, S. 2002. Reaching the unreached: how can we use information and communication technologies to empower the rural poor in the developing world through enhanced access to relevant information? Journal of Information Science 28: 513-522; Cecchini, S. 2003. Tapping ICT to reduce poverty in rural India. IEEE Technology and Society Magazine 22: 20-27.

¹³⁵ Schumacher, E.F. Small is Beautiful: A Study of Economics As If People Mattered. Harper & Row, New York, NY, 1973.

136 Hazeltine, B.; Bull, C. Appropriate Technology; Tools, Choices, and Implications; 1st ed.; Academic Press: USA, 1998; ISBN 978-0-12-335190-6.

¹³⁷ Pearce, J.M. The case for open-source appropriate technology. *Environ Dev Sustain* 2012, *14*, 425–431.

¹³⁸ Dunn, P.D. Appropriate Technology: Technology with a Human Face; Macmillan International Higher Education, 1979; ISBN 978-1-349-16064-8. See also Akubue, A. Appropriate Technology for Socioeconomic Development in Third World Countries. JOTS 2000, 26.

¹³⁹ Cuce, E.; Cuce, P.M. A comprehensive review on solar cookers. *Applied Energy* 2013, *102*, 1399–1421.

¹⁴⁰ Muthusivagami, R.M. et al. Solar cookers with and without thermal storage-A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 2010, *14*, 691–701. ¹⁴¹ Ibid.

¹⁴² Mushtaq U.; Pearce JM. Open-source appropriate nanotechnology. In Maclurcan, D.; Radywyl, N. *Nanotechnology and Global Sustainability*; CRC Press, 2011; ISBN 978-1-4398-5576-8.

¹⁴³ Yapa, L. What Causes Poverty?: A Postmodern View. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 1996, 86, 707–728.

¹⁴⁴ Aguilera-Klink, F., Pérez-Moriana, E. and Sánchez-Garcıa, J., 2000. The social construction of scarcity. The case of water in Tenerife (Canary Islands). Ecological economics, 34(2), pp.233-245.

¹⁴⁵ WHO. Children: improving survival and well-being Available online: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/children-reducing-mortality</u>

¹⁴⁶ Shantharam, Y. The cost of life: patent laws, the WTO, and the HIV/AIDS pandemic. *Undercurrent* 2005, 2(2), 48-56.

¹⁴⁷ Pearce, J.M., 2012. The case for open-source appropriate technology. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 14(3), pp.425-431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-012-9337-9

¹⁴⁸ Willoughby, K.W. Technology Choice: A Critique Of The Appropriate Technology Movement, 1990; ISBN 978-0-8133-7806-0.

¹⁴⁹ Cockburn, I.M. and Henderson, R.M., 2000. Publicly funded science and the productivity of the pharmaceutical industry. *Innovation policy and the economy*, 1, pp.1-34.

¹⁵⁰ Buitenhuis, A. J., Zelenika, I., & Pearce, J.M. Open Design-Based Strategies to Enhance Appropriate Technology Development. Proceedings of the 14th Annual National Collegiate Inventors and Innovators Alliance Conference: 2010. Open, pp. 1-12.

¹⁵¹ Bonaccorsi, A.; Rossi, C. Why Open-source software can succeed. *Research Policy* 2003, 32, 1243–1258.

¹⁵² Osunyomi, B.D. et al. Could open-source ecology and open-source appropriate technology be used as a roadmap from technology colony? *International Journal of Technological Learning, Innovation and Development* 2016, *8*, 265–282.

¹⁵³ Moritz, M. et al. Value creation in open-source hardware communities: Case study of Open-source Ecology. In Proceedings of the 2016 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET); 2016; pp. 2368–2375.

¹⁵⁴ Carr, M. (ed). The AT reader: theory and practice in appropriate technology. London, UK: Intermediate Technology Publications, 1985.

¹⁵⁵ Zelenika, I.; Pearce, J.M. The Internet and other ICTs as tools and catalysts for sustainable development: innovation for 21st century. *Information Development* 2013, *29*, 217–232.

¹⁵⁶ Chan, L.; Costa, S. Participation in the global knowledge commons: Challenges and opportunities for research dissemination in developing countries. *New Library World* 2005, *106*, 141–163.

¹⁵⁷ https://ieeexplore.ieee.org

¹⁵⁸ https://www.engineeringforchange.org

¹⁵⁹ <u>https://imagej.nih.gov/ij</u>

¹⁶⁰ Brooke, C. and Clutterbuck, B., 2020. Mapping heterogeneous buried archaeological features using multisensor data from unmanned aerial vehicles. *Remote Sensing*, *12*(1), p.41.

¹⁶¹ Pearce, J., et al. 3-D Printing of Open-source Appropriate Technologies for Self-Directed Sustainable Development. *Journal of Sustainable Development* 2010, *3*, p17.

¹⁶² Pearce, J.M., Applications of Open-source 3-D Printing on Small Farms. Organic Farming 2015, 1(1), pp.19-35.

¹⁶³ Sharkey, J.P. et al. A one-piece 3D printed flexure translation stage for open-source microscopy. *Review of Scientific Instruments* 2016, 87, 025104.

¹⁶⁴ Gwamuri, J.; Pearce, J.M. Open-source 3-D Printers: An Appropriate Technology for Building Low Cost Optics Labs for the Developing

Communities. In Proceedings of the ETOP 2017 Proceedings (2017), paper 104522S; Optical Society of America, 2017; p. 104522S.

¹⁶⁵ Gwamuri, J. et al. Open-source 3-D Printers: An Appropriate Technology for Developing Communities. *7th International Conference on Appropriate Technology (7th ICAT): Sustainable Technologies to Empower Communities – Bridging Theory and Practice*, At Victoria Falls, Zimbabwe, 2017.

¹⁶⁶ King, D.L. et al. Mobile Open-Source Solar-Powered 3-D Printers for Distributed Manufacturing in Off-Grid Communities. *Challenges in Sustainability* 2014, *2*, 18-27–27.

Gwamuri, J.; et al. High-Efficiency Solar-Powered 3-D Printers for Sustainable Development. Machines 2016, 4, 3.

Khan, K.Y. et al. Self-sufficiency of 3-D printers: utilizing stand-alone solar photovoltaic power systems. *Renewables: Wind, Water, and Solar* 2018, 5, 5, ¹⁶⁷ Louie, H. Experiences in the construction of open-source low technology off-grid wind turbines. In Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting; 2011; pp. 1–7.

¹⁶⁸ Kim, S. et al. A Development of Learning Model to Industry Education for Appropriate Technology using Open-source <u>https://www.dbpia.co.kr/Journal/articleDetail?nodeId=NODE08747424</u>

¹⁶⁹ Sandekian, R., et al. 2005. A summary of the workshop on integrating appropriate-sustainable technology and service-learning in engineering education. *age*, *10*, p.1. See also Pearce, J.M. Service Learning in Engineering and Science for Sustainable Development. *International Journal for Service Learning in Engineering, Humanitarian Engineering and Social Entrepreneurship* 2006, *1*; Pearce, J.M. Teaching Physics Using Appropriate Technology Projects. *The Physics Teacher* 2007, *45*, 164–167; *See also* Pearce, J.M. Appropedia as a Tool for Service Learning in Sustainable Development. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development* 2009, *3*, 45–53; Bielefeldt, A., et al. 2009, June. Measuring the impacts of project-based service learning. In *ASEE 2009 Conference and Exposition*.

¹⁷⁰ Basu, S.; Weil, D.N. Appropriate Technology and Growth. QJEcon 1998, 113, 1025–1054.

¹⁷¹ Kaplinsky, R. Schumacher meets Schumpeter: Appropriate technology below the radar. Research Policy 2011, 40, 193–203.

- ¹⁷² https://reprap.org/wiki/Printable_part_sources
- ¹⁷³ https://waterfortheages.org/international-water-organizations
- 174 https://faircap.org
- ¹⁷⁵ http://mnhtech.org/technology/technology-briefs
- ¹⁷⁶ https://www.oshwa.org/
- 177 https://certification.oshwa.org/list
- ¹⁷⁸ <u>https://www.oshwa.org/definition</u>
- ¹⁷⁹ <u>https://www.villageearth.org</u>
- ¹⁸⁰ <u>http://www.appropedia.org</u>
- ¹⁸¹ https://www.ewb.org.au
- 182 http://www.demotech.org
- ¹⁸³ https://www.thefullbellyproject.org
- ¹⁸⁴ <u>https://www.opensourceecology.org</u>
- ¹⁸⁵ https://www.opensourceecology.org/gvcs
- ¹⁸⁶ <u>https://wikifactory.com</u>
 ¹⁸⁷ https://wikifactory.com
- ¹⁸⁷ https://wikifactory.com/company/about
- ¹⁸⁸ <u>https://wikifactory.com/@aeracoop/dronecoria</u>
 ¹⁸⁹ <u>https://wikifactory.com/+growstack/petfood-a</u>
- ¹⁸⁹ <u>https://wikifactory.com/+growstack/nextfood-aeroponics-3b</u>
- https://www.myminifactory.com
 https://www.engineeringforchange
- ¹⁹¹ <u>https://www.engineeringforchange.org</u>
- ¹⁹² https://www.engineeringforchange.org/solutions/products
- ¹⁹³ <u>http://sristi.org/wsa</u>
- ¹⁹⁴ http://www.sristi.org/cpri
- ¹⁹⁵ <u>http://honeybee.org/index.php</u>
- ¹⁹⁶ <u>http://techpedia.in</u>
- ¹⁹⁷ https://grid.undp.org.in/#4.1/22.82/82
- ¹⁹⁸ http://gian.org/index.php
- ¹⁹⁹ <u>http://gian.org/patent.php</u>
- 200 http://freeip.mtu.edu/home
- ²⁰¹ Nilsiam, Y.; Pearce, J.M. Open-source Database and Website to Provide Free and Open Access to Inactive U.S. Patents in the Public Domain.
- Inventions 2016, 1, 24.
- ²⁰² <u>https://www.wipo.int</u>
- ²⁰³ https://www.lens.org
- https://www.lens.org/lens/members
- ²⁰⁵ https://www.who.int/medical_devices/innovation/new_emerg_tech/en
- ²⁰⁶ https://www.path.org
- ²⁰⁷ Carvalho, M.C. and Murray, R.H., 2018. Osmar, the open-source microsyringe autosampler. *HardwareX*, *3*, pp.10-38.
- ²⁰⁸ Wijnen, B., et al. (2014) Open-Source Syringe Pump Library. PLoS ONE 9/9, e107216.
- ²⁰⁹ Klar, V., et al., 2019. Ystruder: Open-source multifunction extruder with sensing and monitoring capabilities. *HardwareX*, 6, p.e00080.

²¹⁰ Blockstack is an open-source and developer-friendly network for building decentralised apps and smart contracts. <u>https://www.blockstack.org</u>

²¹¹ Horwitz, J. GitHub users are already fuming about the company's sale to Microsoft. *Quartz*. 2018. <u>https://qz.com/1295693/github-users-already-fuming-about-companys-sale-to-microsoft</u>

²¹² Pearce, J.M., (2017). Emerging Business Models for Open-source Hardware. Journal of Open Hardware. 1(1), p.2. <u>http://doi.org/10.5334/joh.4</u>

²¹³ Moilanen, J., et al. 2014. Cultures of sharing in 3D printing: what can we learn from the licence choices of Thingiverse users?. (2015) Journal of Peer Production Issue #6 Disruption and the law.

²¹⁴ Wittbrodt, B.T., et al., 2013. Life-cycle economic analysis of distributed manufacturing with open-source 3-D printers. *Mechatronics*, 23(6), pp.713-726.

²¹⁵ Benchoff, B. 2015. Makerbot Has Now Cut 36% of Staff in Last 6 Months. Hackaday. October 9, 2015 <u>http://hackaday.com/2015/10/09/makerbot-has-now-cut-36-of-staff-in-last-6-months</u>

- ²¹⁶ Benchoff, B. 2016. The MakerBot Obituary. April 28, 2016. Hackaday. http://hackaday.com/2016/04/28/the-makerbot-obituary/
- ²¹⁷ <u>https://openaccess.engineering.oregonstate.edu/signatures</u>
- ²¹⁸ Hutson, M. 2018. Why are AI researchers boycotting a new Nature journal—and shunning others? Science | AAAS

 $\label{eq:https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2018/05/why-are-ai-researchers-boycotting-new-nature-journal-and-shunning-others .$

²¹⁹ https://academic-accelerator.com/Impact-Factor-IF/Journal-of-Machine-Learning-Research

²²⁰ https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/domestic-mous/mou-225-20-008

²²² https://tfm2030connect.un.org

https://www.nextgov.com/emerging-tech/2020/03/fda-nih-va-partner-accelerate-3d-printed-protective-gear-covid-19-response/164246